SYNTHESES OF FLUORINE-CONTAINING HETEROCYCLIC COMPOUNDS VIA DIRECT AND INDIRECT METHODS USING DIFLUOROCARBENES DOI: http://dx.medra.org/10.17374/targets.2024.27.443

Kohei Fuchibe,^{*a*}* Junji Ichikawa^{*b*}*

^aDivision of Chemistry, Faculty of Pure and Applied Sciences, 1–1–1 Tennoudai, Tsukuba,

Ibaraki 305–8571, Japan

^bSagami Chemical Research Institute, 2743–1 Hayakawa, Ayase, Kanagawa 252–1193, Japan (e-mail: kfuchibe@chem.tsukuba.ac.jp, jichikawa@sagami.or.jp)

Abstract. This account presents our syntheses of heterocyclic compounds, encompassing pyrrole, oxazole, thiazole, thiophene, pyridine, pyran, and oxazine derivatives, bearing either fluorine substituents or fluorine-containing substituents ($-OCHF_2$, $-SCHF_2$, and $-CF_2CH_3$ groups) on their rings. The key components in these syntheses are difluorocarbene and associated transition metal fluoroalkylidene complexes. The syntheses are performed using two methods: a) a direct method based on free difluorocarbene or a copper(I) difluorocarbene complex, and b) an indirect method utilizing fluorinated cyclopropanes as the starting material, which were prepared using an iron(III) trifluoroethylidene complex or free difluorocarbene. The cooperation between organofluorine and carbene chemistry yields diverse fluorine-containing heterocyclic compounds.

Contents

1. Introduction

2. Syntheses using difluorocarbenes: direct methods

- 2.1. Synthesis of difluoromethoxy- and difluoromethylsulfanyl-substituted pyridine, oxazole, and pyran derivatives via difluoromethylation
- 2.2. Synthesis of (di)fluorothiazoline, (di)fluorooxazoline, and (di)fluoropyrroline derivatives *via* [4+1]-annulation

2.3. Synthesis of fluorothienothiophenes and fluorothienofurans via abnormal [4+1]-annulation

3. Syntheses starting from fluorinated cyclopropanes: indirect methods

3.1. Synthesis of (di)fluorothiophene derivatives via single activation of the trifluoromethyl group

3.2. Synthesis of (difluoroethyl)benzoxazines via regioselective three-membered ring opening

4. Conclusions

Acknowledgements

References

1. Introduction

Fluorine and fluorine-containing substituents often exert a notable influence on the biological¹⁻⁸ and physical properties⁹⁻¹³ of organic compounds. The high electronegativity of fluorine lowers electron density on its neighboring atoms, enhancing tolerance toward oxidative metabolism or aerobic oxidation. In pharmaceuticals and agrochemicals, fluorine substituents increase lipophilicity to facilitate better absorption through cell membranes, leading to their enhanced bioactivities. Meanwhile, the small size of fluorine substituents hardly affects the three-dimensional structure of drug molecules and planarity of organic electronic materials, preserving their biological activities and physical properties.¹⁴⁻¹⁷

Heterocycles, especially nitrogen-, oxygen-, and sulfur-containing heterocyclic systems such as pyrrole, thiophene, pyridine, pyran, and their fused bicyclic rings have historically played pivotal roles in life sciences and materials science as they are used as core scaffolds for biologically active compounds and functional materials (Figure 1). Consequently, fluorine-containing heterocyclic compounds have been attracting considerable attention in recent years. Despite their appeal, synthesizing heterocycles bearing fluorine or fluorine-containing substituents poses challenges. Introducing fluorine substituents to heterocycles using fluorinating agents like F_2/N_2 and N_N -diethylaminosulfur trifluoride (DAST)^{18,19} presents difficulties such as vigorous reaction conditions, low regioselectivity, use of expensive and toxic reagents, *etc.* Additionally, heterocycle construction and fluorine introduction are highly laborious processes.

By contrast, synthesizing these compounds with *fluorinated-carbon units* emerges as a suitable choice. Difluorocarbene ($:CF_2$) is one of the smallest fluorinated-carbon units and can facilitate the synthesis of ring-

fluorinated heterocycles by providing difluoromethyl ($-CHF_2$), difluoromethylene ($-CF_2-$), and fluoromethanylylidene (-CF=) moieties.²⁰⁻²³ However, the use of classical difluorocarbene precursors, such chlorodifluoroacetate,²⁴⁻²⁶ (HCFC-22)/OH-,27,28 sodium chlorodifluoromethane as and phenyl(trifluoromethyl)mercury/NaI,29,30 presents limitations related to their generation, including harsh conditions (e.g. >120 °C for CCIF₂CO₂Na and OH⁻ for CHCIF₂) and reagent toxicity (Hg²⁺ for PhHgCF₃). Meanwhile, useful difluorocarbene sources such as (triphenylphosphonio)difluoroacetate (Ph₃P⁺CF₂CO₂⁻, PDFA),^{31,32} trimethyl(trifluoromethyl)silane/F⁻,³³ S-(difluoromethyl)-S-phenyl-N-tosylsulfoximine,³⁴ etc. have been developed over the last decade. Notably, we reported NHC-35 or proton sponge-catalyzed36 generation of difluorocarbene from trimethylsilyl 2,2-difluoro-2-(fluorosulfonyl)acetate [TFDA,37 NHC=N-heterocyclic carbene, proton sponge (PS)=1,8-bis(dimethylamino)naphthalene, Scheme 1].^{38,39} The latter is particularly useful for organic synthesis because it allows difluorocarbene generation under nearly neutral conditions at 50-60 °C.





Scheme 1.

In this account, we report our syntheses of heterocyclic compounds bearing fluorine substituent(s) or fluorine-containing substituents (difluoromethoxy, difluoromethylsulfanyl, and 1,1-difluoroethyl groups) on their ring (Figure 2). The syntheses of these heterocycles encompass: a) syntheses utilizing free difluorocarbene or a copper(I) difluorocarbene complex (direct methods, Chapter 2), and b) syntheses starting from fluorinated cyclopropanes prepared using an iron(III) trifluoroethylidene complex or free difluorocarbene (indirect methods, Chapter 3).

2. Syntheses using difluorocarbenes: direct methods

2.1. Synthesis of difluoromethoxy- and difluoromethylsulfanyl-substituted pyridine, oxazole, and pyran derivatives *via* difluoromethylation

In addition to fluorine substituents, fluorine-containing substituents like difluoromethoxy and difluoromethylsulfanyl groups are important,⁴⁰ and biologically active heterocyclic compounds featuring these substituents have been developed. For example, (difluoromethoxy)pyridine **1** serves as a corticotropin-releasing factor-1 (CRF1) receptor antagonist⁴¹ and (difluoromethylsulfanyl)triazine SSH-108 exhibits herbicidal activity.⁴² Therefore, synthetic methods for preparing difluoromethoxy- and difluoromethylsulfanyl-substituted heterocycles are highly desirable for developing drugs and agrochemicals.

When (thio)carbonyl compounds react with difluorocarbene, difluoromethylation of oxygen (sulfur) occurs. (Difluoromethoxy)pyridine derivatives were synthesized from pyridones using difluorocarbene generated with TFDA and an NHC catalyst.⁴³ For instance, quinolinone **2a** was treated with TFDA in the

presence of an *in situ*-generated triazolylidene catalyst **3** (Scheme 2a), yielding difluoromethylene carbonyl ylide intermediate **4**, whose hydrogen migration afforded (difluoromethyloxy)dihydroquinoline **5a**. Subsequent dehydrogenation with 2,3-dichloro-5,6-dicyano-*p*-benzoquinone (DDQ) in a one-pot operation produced 2-(difluoromethoxy)quinoline **6a**. A similar process with 2-pyridone **2b** yielded 2-(difluoromethoxy)pyridine **6b** (Scheme 2b). Notably, difluorocarbene generated under strongly basic conditions (CHCIF₂/OH⁻) was not applicable for (difluoromethoxy)pyridine synthesis due to the ambident reactivity of amidates formed from pyridones, resulting in undesired *N*-difluoromethylation by-products and the desired *O*-difluoromethylation products. Treatment of benzopyranone **7** with TFDA in the presence of an imidazolylidene catalyst **8** yielded 4-(difluoromethoxy)-2*H*-pyran **9** (Scheme 2c).



(Difluoromethylsulfanyl)pyridines and (difluoromethylsulfanyl)oxazoles were synthesized by allowing thiopyridones and cyclic thiocarbamates to react with difluorocarbene (Scheme 3).⁴⁴ 2-Thiopyridone 10 treated with the *in situ*-generated triazolylidene catalyst **3** produced 2-(difluoromethylsulfanyl)pyridine 11 moderately through thiocarbonyl ylide intermediate 12; moreover, the yield of 11 was improved when 10 was allowed to react with TFDA in the presence of a proton sponge catalyst. Similarly, reaction of cyclic thiocarbamate 13 with TFDA afforded the corresponding 2-(difluoromethylsulfanyl)benzoxazole 14.



2.2. Synthesis of (di)fluorothiazoline, (di)fluorooxazoline, and (di)fluoropyrroline derivatives *via* [4+1]-annulation

[4+1]-Annulations of difluorocarbene are useful methods for constructing ring-fluorinated five-membered heterocycles. Conjugated four-atom components (A=B–X=Y) react with difluorocarbene to form unsaturated ylide intermediates. Subsequently, ylide cyclizations lead to difluorinated five-membered cyclic compounds by [4+1]-annulation (Scheme 4a), while three-membered ring formation followed by distal position-selective ring opening (A–B bond cleavage) results in similar but rearranged cyclic compounds by abnormal [4+1]-annulation (Scheme 4b, Section 2.3).

Difluorocarbene, generated from TFDA using a proton sponge catalyst, reacted with N-(thioacyl)amidines 15, which were readily prepared by the condensation of thioamides and dimethyl acetals of N,N-dimethylformamide or N,N-dimethylacetamide (Scheme 5). The generated thiocarbonyl ylide

intermediates 16 readily underwent cyclization to give amino-substituted 5,5-difluorothiazolines 17 ([4+1]-annulation products).⁴⁴ *N*-Acylamidine 18 similarly yielded the corresponding 5,5-difluorooxazoline 19 (Scheme 6).



The obtained 5,5-difluorothiazolines 17 were successfully aromatized to 5-fluorothiazoles 20 and 21 in two ways:⁴⁵ i) difluorothiazoline 17a, with a methine hydrogen on the five-membered ring, was treated with 1,8-diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undec-7-ene (DBU) in toluene at 100 °C, then dehydrofluorination afforded the aromatized 20a (Scheme 7a); ii) difluorothiazoline 17e, possessing a methyl group on the five-membered ring, was transformed into 4-methylidene-5,5-difluorothiazoline 22e upon treatment with dimethyl sulfate *via* the Hofmann elimination of the quaternary ammonium salt (not shown). The exo-methylene moiety of 22e was reactive toward various nucleophiles such as pyrrolidine and trimethylaluminium, affording 2,4-disubstituted 5-fluorothiazoles 21a (with pyrrolidine, C–N bond formation, Scheme 7b) and 21b (with AlMe₃, C–C bond formation, Scheme 7c), respectively, *via* S_N2'-type reactions.⁴⁶

Furthermore, [4+1]-annulation was achieved using transition metal difluorocarbene complexes. We previously reported that copper(I) difluorocarbene complex **23**, generated from CuBr(PPh₃)(L) (L=4,7-dimethyl-1,10-phenanthroline) and sodium bromodifluoroacetate (Scheme 8), reacted with silyl dienol ethers, leading to the synthesis of β,β -difluorocyclopentanones *via* [4+1]-annulation.⁴⁷ This copper(I)-catalyzed annulation was applied to prepare a nitrogen-containing ring system.³⁸ Siloxyazadiene **24**, readily prepared from an *N*-acetylimine, was treated with sodium bromodifluoroacetate in the presence of a CuBr(PPh₃)(phenanthroline) complex (10 mol%), providing the desired β,β -difluoropyrroline **25** *via* 5-*endo-trig* cyclization of an alkylcopper(I) intermediate (Scheme 9).



The product was isolated via Kügelrohr distillation. ^{a 19}F NMR yield in parentheses. ^b Starting *N*-(Thioacyl)amidine **15** was used without isolation.

Scheme 5.



2.3. Synthesis of fluorothienothiophenes and fluorothienofurans via abnormal [4+1]-annulation

Another cyclization pathway arises in the reactions of difluorocarbene with four-atom components (A=B-X=Y), leading to three-membered ring formation. The ring strain enhanced by fluorine substituents on three-membered rings further promotes *abnormal* [4+1]-annulation of difluorocarbene, yielding a different type of difluorinated five-membered cyclic compounds (Scheme 4b).

Thioketones and dithioesters react with difluorocarbene to form 2,2-difluorothiiranes (2,2-difluorothiacyclopropanes) **26** and **27**, respectively, *via* thiocarbonyl ylide intermediates.⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰ The fluorine substituents induce additional ring strain on 2,2-difluorothiiranes by 7 kcal/mol, compared with fluorine-free thiiranes, facilitating elemental sulfur elimination (without phosphines) to afford 1,1-difluoroalkenes by Barton-Kellogg-type synthesis⁵¹⁻⁵³ (Scheme 10).







Scheme 9.



The ring strain is enhanced owing to the distorted structure of difluorothiiranes.⁴⁹ The S–CF₂–C bond angle of difluorothiirane **29** is 68.7°, wider than that of parent thiirane **28** (66.2°, DFT, B3LYP/6-31G*, Figure 4). The distal and proximal C–S bond lengths of difluorothiirane **29** are 1.87 and 1.81 Å, respectively, with the former elongated and the latter shortened from that of thiirane **28** (1.84 Å). These distortions are attributed to the strong electron-withdrawing inductive effect of fluorine substituents (Bent's rule). Because the *p* character-rich C–F bonds exhibit smaller interelectronic repulsion around the CF₂ carbon atom than the *s* character-rich C–C and C–S bonds, the F–C–F bond angle becomes narrower (not shown), while the S–CF₂–C bond angle becomes wider.

	S 28	distal C-S S 29
C–C–S bond angle / °	66.2	68.7
C–S bond length(s) / Å	1.84	1.87 (distal) 1.81 (proximal)
		DFT, B3LYP/6-31G*



The distorted structure of difluorothiiranes promoted ring opening rearrangement, causing abnormal [4+1]-annulation of difluorocarbene with thiocarbonyl compounds.⁵⁴ Thiophene-2-carbodithioates **30** were treated with lithium bromodifluoroacetate in the presence of molecular sieves 4A (MS 4A, Scheme 11) to produce 2,2-difluoro-3-(2-thienyl)thiiranes **31** *in situ*. These intermediates underwent regioselective ring expansion (distal C–S bond cleavage), followed by dehydrofluorination, resulting in sulfanylated fluorothieno[3,2-*b*]thiophenes **32**. By contrast, thiophene-3-carbodithioates, the regioisomers of **30**, reacted with difluorocarbene similarly to yield sulfanylated fluorothieno[2,3-*b*]thiophenes **33**, the isomer of **32** (Figure 5). DFT calculations suggested that lithium ligation was crucial for suppressing desulfurization (Scheme 10) and accelerating ring expansion (not shown).

The abnormal [4+1]-annulation also facilitated dibenzo(thienothienofuran) synthesis.⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷ Benzofurancarbodithioates **34** underwent a similar abnormal [4+1]-annulation with difluorocarbene, resulting in the formation of fluorinated benzo(thieno)furans **35** with an arylsulfanyl group (Scheme 12). Subsequent lithium-bromine exchange of **35b** (Ar=o-BrC₆H₄) with *t*-butyllithium, followed by intramolecular nucleophilic aromatic substitution for fluorine, produced fluorine-free dibenzo(thienothienofuran) **36**. This pentacyclic compound shows promise as an electronic material.





Conditions: BrCF₂CO₂Li (3 equiv), MS 4A, MeNO₂. Method A: reflux; method B: microwave, closed, 140 °C. ^a ¹⁹F NMR yield in parentheses.

Figure 5.

3. Syntheses starting from fluorinated cyclopropanes: indirect methods

In addition to the aforementioned direct syntheses employing free and transition metal difluorocarbene complexes, indirect syntheses involving carbenes were employed to prepare fluorinated cyclopropane intermediates, expanding the spectrum of fluorine-containing heterocycles. Fluorinated cyclopropanes are synthetically accessible from alkenes using difluorocarbene or related species.^{21,58} Cyclopropanes serve as

useful intermediates in organic synthesis due to their: i) ring strain of 26.5–28.7 kcal/mol^{22,59,60}, and ii) nucleophilic C–C σ bonds within three-membered rings. Combining fluorine and cyclopropane chemistry, *i.e.* generation of α -fluorine-stabilized carbocations⁶¹⁻⁶⁴ and regioselective ring cleavage of difluorocyclopropanes, opens new synthetic routes for preparing fluorothiophene derivatives (Section 3.1) and (1,1-difluoroethyl)benzoxazines (Section 3.2).



3.1. Synthesis of (di)fluorothiophene derivatives via single activation of the trifluoromethyl group

The C–F bonds of CF₃ group are highly inert due to the shielding effect of its three fluorine atoms and its thermal stability.^{65,66} Notably, achieving the single activation of these three C–F bonds in the CF₃ group has been challenging because harsh reaction conditions are required to cleave the first sp^3 C–F bond without affecting the remaining weaker C–F bonds. As the number of fluorine substituents attached to the carbon decreases, the dissociation energies of the C–F bonds also decrease from 129.7 kcal/mol to 109.0 kcal/mol (Figure 6).⁶⁵ Because of the importance of selectively fluorinated compounds, recent studies have extensively investigated the single C–F bond activation of the CF₃ group.⁶⁷

bond	bond dissociation energy / kcalmol ⁻¹
CF ₃ -F	129.7
CHF ₂ —F	128.0
CH ₂ F-F	122.0
CH_3-F	109.0

F	ïg	ur	e	6

Fluorine substituents stabilize α -carbocations by donating their unshared electron pairs to the vacant *p*-orbitals of cationic carbon centers (α -carbocation stabilizing effect of the fluorine substituent, Figure 7).^{14,15,17} Despite their electron-withdrawing inductive effect, fluorine substituents consequently stabilize α -carbocations through efficient overlap of fluorine 2*p*-orbitals with carbon 2*p*-orbitals.



We successfully achieved the single activation of (trifluoromethyl)cyclopropanes using Lewis acids, leading to the synthesis of fluorothiophenes, fluorodihydrothiophenes, and difluorotetrahydrothiophenes. The starting (trifluoromethyl)cyclopropanes **37** were prepared by the cyclopropanation of styrenes with an iron(III) trifluoroethylidene complex generated from trifluoromethylated hydrazones, sodium methoxide, and a catalytic amount of tetrabutylammonium chloride (Scheme 13).⁶⁸⁻⁷¹



Scheme 13.

When (trifluoromethyl)cyclopropane **37** was allowed to react with thiobenzoic acid in the presence of diethylaluminium chloride, S-4,4-difluorohomoallyl thiobenzoates **38** were successfully obtained (Scheme 14).⁷² Et₂AlCl abstracted a fluoride ion from **37** to yield CF₂ cations **39**, which were stabilized by electron-donating cyclopropyl group and fluorine substituents. These cations were subsequently trapped by thiobenzoic acid, leading to single activation products **38**. Notably, the further abstraction of fluoride ion, which is not desired, was entirely suppressed owing to the instability of the vinyl cations resulting from the second fluoride abstraction.

The ensuing S-4,4-difluorohomoallyl thiobenzoates **38** served as suitable precursors for synthesizing fluorothiophene derivatives **40**.^{73,74} Thiobenzoates **38**, when treated with sodium methoxide in *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide (DMF), an aprotic solvent, underwent debenzoylation followed by nucleophilic addition-elimination in a 5-endo-trig fashion to yield ring-fluorinated fluorothiophenes **40** (Scheme 15). Subsequent treatment with DDQ led to the aromatization of **40b**, producing the corresponding fluorothiophene **41b** (Scheme 16).

The addition-elimination process, which afforded **40**, occurred through the cyclized intermediates **42**. Protonation of these intermediates facilitated the synthesis of difluorotetrahydrothiophenes **43** (Scheme 17). Treatment of thiobenzoates **38** with potassium carbonate in a protic solvent, ethanol, trapped **42** *via* protonation, which subsequently resulted in the successful formation of the expected addition products, difluorotetrahydrothiophenes **43**. The syntheses of **40**, **41**, and **43**, which have been infrequently reported, were efficiently achieved through single C–F bond activation of the CF₃ group, enabling short-step syntheses of monofluorothiophene and difluorothiophene derivatives *via* sulfanylation/intramolecular substitution or addition sequences.



Bz = Benzoyl. ^{a 19}F NMR yield in parentheses.





Bz = Benzoyl.

Scheme 15.



Bz = Benzoyl. ^{a 19}F NMR yield in parentheses.

Scheme 17.

3.2. Synthesis of (difluoroethyl)benzoxazines via regioselective three-membered ring opening

The 1,1-difluoroethyl group ($-CF_2CH_3$) functions as a bioisostere⁷⁵⁻⁷⁸ of the methoxy group ($-OCH_3$) (Figure 8). For example, in the context of *Plasmodium falciparum* dihydroorotate dehydrogenase inhibitors (DHODH inhibitors) **44**, related to malaria treatment, the introduction of a 1,1-difluoroethyl group (X=CF_2CH_3) enhances their metabolic stability, leading to a remarkable improvement in the inhibitory activity (Figure 9).⁷⁹

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathsf{F} \\ \mathsf{I} \\ \mathsf{-} \\ \mathsf{C} \\ \mathsf{-} \\ \mathsf{C} \\ \mathsf{-} \\ \mathsf{C} \\ \mathsf{H} \\ \mathsf{F} \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{c} \bullet \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{-} \\ \mathsf{C} \\ \mathsf{H} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{C} \\ \mathsf{H} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{C} \\ \mathsf{H} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{C} \\ \mathsf{H} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{C} \\ \mathsf{H} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{C} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{C} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{C} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{C} \\ \mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{O}$$

Figure 8.



Similar to 1,1-difluorothiiranes mentioned earlier (Section 2.3., Figure 4), 1,1-difluorocyclopropanes are thermally less stable than their parent cyclopropanes.⁸⁰ Moreover, their C–C bond cleavage occurs regioselectively at the C–C bond distal to the CF₂ moiety (Figure 10). The advantageous properties resulting from fluorine substitution in cyclopropane rings,^{21,59,60} namely increased ring strain and elongated C–C bond distal to the CF₂ moiety, are highly favorable for synthesizing fluorinated compounds.

	\bigtriangleup	F proximal C–C distal C–C
ring strain / kcalmol ^{−1}	26.5–28.7	35.7–42.4
C–C bond lengths / Å	1.510	1.553 (distal) 1.464 (proximal)

Figure 10.

The 1,3-benzoxazine framework is frequently found in useful compounds, such as pharmaceuticals⁸¹⁻⁸³ and functional materials.^{84,85} Therefore, 2-(1,1-difluoroethyl)-2*H*-1,3-benzoxazines were synthesized through the fluorine-directed regioselective ring opening of 1,1-difluorocyclopropanes. The starting material 2-aryloxy-1,1-difluorocyclopropanes **45** were readily prepared *via* the difluorocyclopropanation of vinyl ethers using sodium bromodifluoroacetate⁸⁶ (Scheme 18).



The introduction of triflic acid-induced regioselective ring opening (distal C–C bond cleavage) of difluorocyclopropanes **45**, followed by an interrupted Ritter reaction, afforded 2-(1,1-difluorocthyl)-2*H*-1,3-benzoxazines **46** (Scheme 19).⁸⁷ gem-Difluorocyclopropane **45** when treated with triflic acid in the presence of various nitriles underwent regioselective protonation of the gem-difluorocyclopropane moiety, generating cationic intermediates **47**. These intermediates were then trapped with nitriles, followed by a Friedel-Crafts-type ring closure to produce benzoxazines **46**.



4. Conclusions

fluorocarbene-based syntheses of heterocycles bearing fluorine substituent(s) or Our fluorine-containing substituents on their rings were comprehensively outlined. The key components in these syntheses were difluorocarbene, (trifluoromethyl)carbene, and their transition metal complexes. These species demonstrated versatility for both the direct synthesis of fluorinated/difluoromethoxylated/difluoromethylsulfanylated heterocycles, and the indirect construction of fluorinated/difluoroethylated rings via fluorinated cyclopropanes. The cooperation of organofluorine and carbene chemistry efficiently yielded various fluorine-containing heterocyclic compounds.

Acknowledgements

This research was financially supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number JP22H02071 (J.I.) in Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (B) and JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number JP20K21186 (J.I.) in Grant-in-Aid for Challenging Research (Exploratory). This work was partly supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant

Number JP20K05486 (K.F.) in Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (C) and JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number JP23K04747 (K.F.) in Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (C).

References

- 1. Smart, B. E. J. Fluorine Chem. 2001, 109, 3-11.
- 2. Jeschke, P. ChemBioChem 2004, 5, 570-589.
- 3. Hagmann, W. K. J. Med. Chem. 2008, 51, 4359-4369.
- 4. Jeschke, P. Pest Manag. Sci. 2010, 66, 10-27.
- Wang, J.; Sánchez-Roselló, M.; Aceña, J. L.; del Pozo, C.; Sorochinsky, A. E.; Fustero, S.; Soloshonok, V. A.; Liu, H. *Chem. Rev.* 2014, *114*, 2432-2506.
- 6. Fujiwara, T.; O'Hagan, D. J. Fluorine Chem. 2014, 167, 16-29.
- Gillis, E. P.; Eastman, K. J.; Hill, M. D.; Donnelly, D. J.; Meanwell, N. A. J. Med. Chem. 2015, 58, 8315-8359.
- 8. Zhou, Y.; Wang, J.; Gu, Z.; Wang, S.; Zhu, W.; Aceña, J. L.; Soloshonok, V. A.; Izawa, K.; Liu, H. *Chem. Rev.* **2016**, *116*, 422-518.
- 9. Pagliaro, M.; Ciriminna, R. J. Mater. Chem. 2005, 15, 4981-4991.
- 10. Hird, M. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2007, 36, 2070-2095.
- 11. Babudri, F.; Farinola, G. M.; Naso, F.; Ragni, R. Chem. Commun. 2007, 2007, 1003-1022.
- 12. Tang, M. L.; Bao, Z. Chem. Mater. 2011, 23, 446-455.
- 13. Berger, R.; Resnati, G.; Metrangolo, P.; Weber, E.; Hulliger, J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2011, 40, 3496-3508.
- 14. Smart, B. E., Organofluorine Chemistry, Principles and Commercial Applications. Plenum Press, New York, 1994.
- 15. Uneyama, K., Organofluorine Chemistry. Blackwell, Oxford, 2006.
- Bégué, J.-P.; Bonnet-Delpon, D., *Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry of Fluorine*. Wiley, Hoboken, 2008.
- 17. O'Hagan, D. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2008, 37, 308-319.
- 18. Middleton, W. J. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40, 574-578.
- 19. Hudlický, M. Org. React. 1988, 35, 513-637.
- 20. Brahms, D. L. S.; Dailey, W. P. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 1585-1632.
- 21. Dolbier, W. R., Jr.; Battiste, M. A. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 1071-1098.
- 22. Ni, C.; Hu, J. Synthesis 2014, 46, 842-863.
- 23. Zhang, W.; Wang, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 2018, 59, 1301-1308.
- 24. Birchall, J. M.; Cross, G. W.; Haszeldine, R. N. Proc. Chem. Soc. 1960, 81-81.
- Knox, L. H.; Velarde, E.; Berger, S.; Cuadriello, D.; Landis, P. W.; Cross, A. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1963, 85, 1851-1858.
- 26. Beard, C.; Dyson, N. H.; Fried, J. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1966, 7, 3281-3286.
- 27. Miller, T. G.; Thanassi, J. W. J. Org. Chem. 1960, 25, 2009-2012.
- 28. Langlois, B. R. J. Fluorine Chem. 1988, 41, 247-261.
- 29. Seyferth, D.; Mui, J. Y.-P.; Gordon, M. E.; Burlitch, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1965, 87, 681-682.
- 30. Seyferth, D.; Hopper, S. P. J. Org. Chem. 1972, 37, 4070-4075.
- 31. Zheng, J.; Lin, J.-H.; Cai, J.; Xiao, J.-C. Chem. Eur. J. 2013, 19, 15261-15266.
- 32. Deng, X.-Y.; Lin, J.-H.; Zheng, J.; Xiao, J.-C. Chem. Commun. 2015, 8805-8808.
- Wang, F.; Luo, T.; Hu, J.; Wang, Y.; Krishnan, H. S.; Jog, P. V.; Ganesh, S. K.; Prakash, G. K. S.; Olah, G. A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 7153-7157.
- 34. Zhang, W.; Wang, F.; Hu, J. Org. Lett. 2009, 11, 2109-2112.
- 35. Fuchibe, K.; Koseki, Y.; Sasagawa, H.; Ichikawa, J. Chem. Lett. 2011, 40, 1189-1191.
- 36. Fuchibe, K.; Takayama, R.; Yokoyama, T.; Ichikawa, J. Chem. Eur. J. 2017, 23, 2831-2838.
- 37. Dolbier, W. R., Jr.; Tian, F.; Duan, J.-X.; Li, A.-R.; Ait-Mohand, S.; Bautista, O.; Buathong, S.; Marshall Baker, J.; Crawford, J.; Anselme, P.; Cai, X. H.; Modzelewska, A.; Koroniak, H.; Battiste, M. A.; Chen, Q.-Y. J. Fluorine Chem. 2004, 125, 459-469.
- 38. Fuchibe, K.; Takayama, R.; Aono, T.; Hu, J.; Hidano, T.; Sasagawa, H.; Fujiwara, M.; Miyazaki, S.; Nadano, R.; Ichikawa, J. *Synthesis* **2018**, *50*, 514-528.

- 39. Fuchibe, K.; Ichikawa, J. Chem. Commun. 2023, 59, 2532-2540.
- 40. Leroux, F.; Jeschke, P.; Schlosser, M. Chem. Rev. 2005, 105, 827-856.
- 41. Hartz, R. A.; Ahuja, V. T.; Zhuo, X.; Mattson, R. J.; Denhart, D. J.; Deskus, J. A.; Vrudhula, V. M.; Pan, S.; Ditta, J. L.; Shu, Y.-Z.; Grace, J. E.; Lentz, K. A.; Lelas, S.; Li, Y.-W.; Molski, T. F.; Krishnananthan, S.; Wong, H.; Qian-Cutrone, J.; Schartman, R.; Denton, R.; Lodge, N. J.; Zaczek, R.; Macor, J. E.; Bronson, J. J. *J. Med. Chem.* **2009**, *52*, 7653-7668.
- 42. Morita, K.; Ide, K.; Hayase, Y.; Takahashi, T.; Hayashi, Y. Agric. Biol. Chem. 1987, 51, 1339-1343.
- 43. Fuchibe, K.; Koseki, Y.; Aono, T.; Sasagawa, H.; Ichikawa, J. J. Fluorine Chem. 2012, 133, 52-60.
- 44. Fuchibe, K.; Bando, M.; Takayama, R.; Ichikawa, J. J. Fluorine Chem. 2015, 171, 133-138.
- 45. Fuchibe, K.; Morota, Y.; Miura, T.; Ichikawa, J. Chem. Lett. 2022, 51, 778-780.
- 46. Hamel, J.-D.; Paquin, J.-F. Chem. Commun. 2018, 54, 10224-10239.
- 47. Fuchibe, K.; Aono, T.; Hu, J.; Ichikawa, J. Org. Lett. 2016, 18, 4502-4505.
- 48. Takayama, R.; Yamada, A.; Fuchibe, K.; Ichikawa, J. Org. Lett. 2017, 19, 5050-5053.
- 49. Fuchibe, K.; Yamada, A.; Hachinohe, K.; Matsumoto, K.; Ichikawa, J. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2021, 94, 2451-2465.
- 50. Mloston, G.; Romanski, J.; Heimgartner, H. Heterocycles 1999, 50, 403-410.
- 51. Kellogg, R. M.; Wassenaar, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1970, 11, 1987-1990.
- 52. Wang, Z., in *Comprehensive Organic Name Reactions and Reagents*, Z. Wang, Ed., John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, **2009**, 249-253.
- 53. Mlostoń, G.; Jasiński, R.; Kula, K.; Heimgartner, H. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2020, 2020, 176-182.
- 54. Fuchibe, K.; Mukohara, I.; Yamada, A.; Miyazaki, D.; Takayama, R.; Ichikawa, J. Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 169-174.
- 55. Cinar, M. E.; Ozturk, T. Chem. Rev. 2015, 115, 3036-3140.
- Takimiya, K.; Nakano, M.; Kang, M. J.; Miyazaki, E.; Osaka, I. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2013, 2013, 217-227.
- 57. Takimiya, K.; Shinamura, S.; Osaka, I.; Miyazaki, E. Adv. Mater. 2011, 23, 4347-4370.
- Wong, H. N. C.; Hon, M. Y.; Tse, C. W.; Yip, Y. C.; Tanko, J.; Hudlicky, T. Chem. Rev. 1989, 89, 165-198.
- 59. Liebman, J. F.; Greenberg, A. Chem. Rev. 1976, 76, 311-365.
- 60. Khoury, P. R.; Goddard, J. D.; Tam, W. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 8103-8112.
- 61. Johnson, W. S.; Plummer, M. S.; Reddy, S. P.; Bartlett, W. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 515-521.
- 62. Ichikawa, J.; Yokota, M.; Kudo, T.; Umezaki, S. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 4870-4873.
- 63. Fuchibe, K.; Hatta, H.; Oh, K.; Oki, R.; Ichikawa, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2017, 56, 5890-5893.
- Takao, G.; Hakozaki, T.; Miura, K.; Urushibara, Y.; Fuchibe, K.; Ichikawa, J. Synthesis 2022, 54, 3883-3898.
- 65. Burdeniuc, J.; Jedlicka, B.; Crabtree, R. H. Chem. Ber. 1997, 130, 145-154.
- 66. Blanksby, S. J.; Ellison, G. B. Acc. Chem. Res. 2003, 36, 255-263.
- 67. Jaroschik, F. Chem. Eur. J. 2018, 24, 14572-14582.
- Aggarwal, V. K.; Alonso, E.; Hynd, G.; Lydon, K. M.; Palmer, M. J.; Porcelloni, M.; Studley, J. R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 1430-1433.
- 69. Morandi, B.; Carreira, E. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 938-941.
- 70. Fuchibe, K.; Oki, R.; Hatta, H.; Ichikawa, J. Chem. Eur. J. 2018, 24, 17932-17935.
- 71. Ostrovskii, V. S.; Beletskaya, I. P.; Titanyuk, I. D. Org. Lett. 2019, 21, 9080-9083.
- 72. Fuchibe, K.; Fushihara, T.; Ichikawa, J. Org. Lett. 2020, 22, 2201-2205.
- 73. Ichikawa, J.; Wada, Y.; Okauchi, T.; Minami, T. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1997, 1537-1538.
- Ichikawa, J.; Fujiwara, M.; Wada, Y.; Okauchi, T.; Minami, T. Chem. Commun. 2000, 2000, 1887-1888.
- 75. Meanwell, N. A. J. Med. Chem. 2011, 54, 2529-2591.
- 76. Reddy, V. P., in Organofluorine Compounds in Biology and Medicine, Elsevier, 2015.
- 77. Meanwell, N. A. J. Med. Chem. 2018, 61, 5822-5880.
- 78. Meanwell, N. A. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2023, 71, 18087-18122.

- 79. Coteron, J. M.; Marco, M.; Esquivias, J.; Deng, X.; White, K. L.; White, J.; Koltun, M.; El Mazouni, F.; Kokkonda, S.; Katneni, K.; Bhamidipati, R.; Shackleford, D. M.; Angulo-Barturen, I.; Ferrer, S. B.; Jiménez-Díaz, M. B.; Gamo, F.-J.; Goldsmith, E. J.; Charman, W. N.; Bathurst, I.; Floyd, D.; Matthews, D.; Burrows, J. N.; Rathod, P. K.; Charman, S. A.; Phillips, M. A. J. Med. Chem. 2011, 54, 5540-5561.
- 80. Greenberg, A.; Liebman, J. F.; Dolbier Jr., W. R.; Medinger, K. S.; Skancke, A. *Tetrahedron* 1983, *39*, 1533-1538.
- 81. Siddiqui, N.; Ali, R.; Alam, M. S.; Ahsan, W. J. Chem. Pharm. Res. 2010, 2, 309-316.
- 82. El-Din, N. A. E.-S. S. J. Serb. Chem. Soc. 2021, 86, 213-246.
- 83. Rashid, M.; Chand, M.; Gupta, A. Heterocycl. Lett. 2018, 8, 477-485.
- 84. Ghosh, N. N.; Kiskan, B.; Yagci, Y. Prog. Polym. Sci. 2007, 32, 1344-1391.
- 85. Zhang, L. Curr. Org. Chem. 2019, 23, 809-822.
- 86. Oshiro, K.; Morimoto, Y.; Amii, H. Synthesis 2010, 2010, 2080-2084.
- 87. Fuchibe, K.; Matsuo, T.; Ichikawa, J. Org. Lett. 2023, 25, 4276-4280.